
The full agenda packet can be found on the Planning Board webpage at: keenenh.gov/planning-board.

City of Keene Planning Board 

AGENDA - AMENDED

Monday, June 23, 2025 6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 

A. AGENDA ITEMS

1) Call to Order – Roll Call

2) Minutes of Previous Meeting – May 27, 2025

3) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals

4) Public Hearing

a) Change of Governmental Land Use – RSA 674:54 regarding the proposed use of the
2.67-ac parcel at 0 West St (TMP# 577-047-000) for temporary construction material
storage during the Island Street Infrastructure project. This site will be used in addition 
to the storage area at 0 Island St (TMP# 583-018-000) that was presented to the Board
in May of 2024. The property is owned by PSNH (dba Eversource) and is in the
Commerce District.

5) Master Plan Update (KeeneMasterPlan.com)

6) Staff Updates

7) New Business

8) Upcoming Dates of Interest
• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – July 14th, 6:30 PM
• Planning Board Steering Committee – July 15th, 12:00 PM
• Planning Board Site Visit – July 23rd, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed
• Planning Board Meeting – July 28th, 6:30 PM

B. MORE TIME ITEMS

1. Potential Modifications to the Site Plan Review Thresholds
2. Training on Site Development Standards – Snow Storage & Landscaping

C. ADJOURNMENT

https://keenemasterplan.com/


DRAFT 

Page 1 of 11 

City of Keene 1 
New Hampshire 2 

3 
4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 
MEETING MINUTES 6 

7 
Tuesday, May 27, 2025 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 

City Hall 8 
Members Present: 

Mayor Jay V. Kahn 
Armando Rangel 
Ryan Clancy 
Kenneth Kost 
Michael Hoefer, Alternate 
Stephon Mehu, Alternate 

Members Not Present: 
Harold Farrington, Chair 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni, Vice Chair 
Councilor Michael Remy 
Sarah Vezzani 
Randyn Markelon, Alternate 
Tammy Adams, Alternate 

Staff Present: 

Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
Evan Clements, Planner 
Megan Fortson, Planner 

I) Call to Order9 
10 

Senior Planner Mari Brunner called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM.  Ms. Brunner stated there is 11 
no Chairman or Vice-Chairman at the meeting today.  She next called the roll and then asked that 12 
the Board nominate a Chair Pro Tem. Ms. Brunner asked the two Alternates to join the meeting 13 
as voting members.  14 

15 
A motion was made by Kenneth Kost to nominate Armando Rangel as Chair Pro Tem. The 16 
motion was seconded by Stephon Mehu and was unanimously approved.  17 

18 
The Chair Pro Tem addressed the Board and stated for members of the public attending the 19 
meeting to hear about the gravel pit applications, the Board received a request from the applicant 20 
to continue the public hearing for this project to the July 28th Planning Board meeting. During 21 
the public hearing this evening, the applicant will present the request for a continuance of the 22 
public hearing, provide an update on the status of the project, and answer any relevant questions 23 
from Board members. Public comment will not be accepted during this agenda item. 24 

25 
26 
27 
28 
29 

2 of 34



PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT 
May 2025, 2025 

Page 2 of 11 

30 
II) Minutes of Previous Meeting – April 28, 202531 

32 
A motion was made by Kenneth Kost that the Planning Board approve the April 28, 2025 33 
meeting minutes. The motion was seconded by Michael Hoefer and was unanimously approved. 34 

35 
III) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals36 

37 
Chair Pro Tem stated this is a new, standing agenda item.  As a matter of practice, the Board will 38 
now issue a final vote on all conditionally approved plans after all of the “conditions precedent” 39 
have been met.  This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 40 
He asked Staff whether there were any applications ready for final vote. 41 

42 
Ms. Brunner stated there was one application that was ready for final approval this evening. 43 
It is PB-2024-22, which is a subdivision at 0 Ashuelot Street for the Monadnock Conservancy. 44 

45 
A motion was made by Mayor Jay Kahn that the Planning Board issue final site plan approval 46 
for PB-2024-22. The motion was seconded by Michael Hoefer and carried on a unanimous vote. 47 

IV) Continued Public Hearing (To be continued to the July 28, 2025 Planning Board48 
meeting.) 49 

a) PB-2024-20 – Earth Excavation Permit Major Amendment & Hillside Protection50 
Conditional Use Permit – 21 & 57 Route 9 – Applicant Granite Engineering LLC, on behalf of 51 
owner G2 Holdings LLC, proposes to expand the existing gravel pit located at 21 & 57 Route 9 52 
(TMP#s 215-007-000 & 215-008-000). A Hillside Protection CUP is requested for impacts to 53 
steep slopes. Waivers are requested from Sections 25.3.1.D, 25.3.3, 25.3.6, and 25.3.13 of the 54 
LDC related to the 250’ surface water resource setback, excavation below the water table, toxic 55 
or acid forming materials, and the 5- ac excavation area maximum. The parcels are a combined 56 
~109.1-ac in size and are located in the Rural District. 57 

58 
Ariane Ice, Attorney for G2 holdings, and Justin Daigneault from Granite Engineering addressed 59 
the Board. Attorney Ice stated they are requesting a continuance for this application to the July 60 
meeting. Attorney Ice stated on a technical side, the applicant is still working through some 61 
things, and she thinks there are some things that they can do to strengthen the application. She 62 
stated their goal is to get the project in front of the Board with a complete application and would 63 
like more time to accomplish that. 64 

65 
Mr. Clancy asked for more detail as to why this continuance needs to happen. Attorney Ice stated 66 
she has just been brought in, and there are some elements that have been raised by the Board, 67 
residents, abutters and other towns. The applicant wants to make sure those concerns are 68 
addressed.  69 

70 
Attorney Ice added Fieldstone Land Consultants Engineers are still working through their review 71 
of the application. Mr. Daigneault stated Fieldstone was provided with a packet of information, 72 
which the engineer has not been able to review in a timely manner because of personal and 73 
health issues.  74 

75 

Mr. Clancy asked whether the applicant could go into detail about the concerns the surrounding 76 
communities have been having. Attorney Ice stated she would like to present those concerns in 77 

3 of 34



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
May 2025, 2025 

Page 3 of 11 
 

an organized application. She stated that until her client signs off on what they want her to 78 
present, she would prefer not to have a back and forth. Mr. Clancy asked where those concerns 79 
are being raised. She stated the Town of Sullivan had a meeting in which residents have raised 80 
their concerns.  81 
 82 
Mr. Clancy noted this application was submitted in March and asked why these waiver requests 83 
are being submitted now. Mr. Daigneault stated it is because of things that were brought up by 84 
the third-party review, which suggested the need for additional waivers. He added that nothing in 85 
the project has changed. Attorney Ice indicated the third-party review is an arm of the City 86 
reviewing items.  87 
 88 

Planner Megan Fortson provided a review of this application process. She explained that at the 89 
February 24th Planning Board meeting, this application was accepted as complete. At the 90 
February 24th meeting, the public hearing was set for the March 24th Planning Board meeting. At 91 
the March 24th meeting, the applicant had asked that the application be continued to the May 27th 92 
meeting. Ms. Fortson stated the City regulations regarding earth excavation are complicated. For 93 
instance, the regulations indicate a third party needs to be hired by the City, and, at this point, the 94 
third-party reviewer is working with the applicant. The applicant wants to make sure they submit 95 
a complete application to the Board. This is the reason for the extension request to the July 28th 96 
meeting. Ms. Fortson stated Staff recommend that the Board ask the applicant clarifying 97 
questions related to the application materials, but the Board would not be accepting any public 98 
comment this evening. However, if the Board has any technical questions about those aspects of 99 
the project, those questions are appropriate to ask. 100 
 101 
Councilor Remy asked to clarify if the applicant is asking for a continuance, and if the Board is 102 
inclined to issue the continuance, would it also be appropriate for the Board to hold questions 103 
until the July 28th meeting or if there is a particular reason those questions need to be raised now. 104 
Ms. Fortson stated it is up to the Board if it would like to hold questions until the public hearing.   105 
The Chair Pro Tem stated the additional information about the updates for this application were 106 
very helpful to understand what the application is going to be submitted. He continued by stating 107 
he agreed this is a very technical application the applicant is going through. 108 
 109 
Mr. Hoefer stated he had no issue granting a continuance so the applicant has time to work on 110 
this item.  111 
 112 
A motion was made by Mayor Kahn to continue the public hearing on PB-2024-20 to the 113 
Planning Board meeting on July 28th at 6:30pm in Council Chambers on the 2nd floor of City 114 
Hall. The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy.  115 
 116 
Mr. Clancy asked Staff why public comment was not permitted. Ms. Brunner stated the reason 117 
Staff recommend the Board not take public comment this evening is because the Board should 118 
have complete information before deliberation. She stated, however, it is up to the Board if it 119 
wanted to take public comment tonight, but it would be testimony the Board would not be acting 120 
on right away. Staff recommend that the Board wait to hear public comment until the meeting in 121 
which a decision would be made and when the applicant would be prepared to respond to 122 
concerns and present a complete application. The Chair Pro Tem stated he was in favor of the 123 
Staff recommendation.  124 
 125 

4 of 34



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
May 2025, 2025 

Page 4 of 11 
 

The motion to continue the public hearing on PB-2024-20 carried on a unanimous vote.  126 
 127 
 128 
 129 
 130 
 131 
 132 
 133 

V) Boundary Line Adjustment 134 
 135 

a) PB-2025-10 – Boundary Line Adjustment – 37 & 38 Grimes Rd – Applicant  136 
Cardinal Surveying & Land Planning, on behalf of owners Christopher & Jennifer Tattersall & 137 
the Margaret A. Heatherman Trust, proposes to transfer ~10.35-ac of land from the ~31- ac 138 
parcel at 37 Grimes Rd to the ~29-ac parcel at 38 Grimes Rd (TMP#s 237-026-000 & 236-015-139 
000). Both parcels are located in the Rural District. 140 
 141 
A. Board Determination of Completeness 142 
 143 
Planner Evan Clements stated the applicant has requested exemptions from submitting separate 144 
existing and proposed conditions plans, all technical reports, and a plan showing the metes and 145 
bounds of all parcels. After reviewing each request, Planning Staff have made the preliminary 146 
determination that granting the requested exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the 147 
application and recommend that the Board accept the application as complete. 148 
 149 
A motion was made by Michael Hoefer to accept Application PB-2025-10 as complete. The 150 
motion was seconded by Council Remy and was unanimously approved  151 
 152 
B. Public Hearing 153 
Ms. Wendy Pelletier of Cardinal Surveying addressed the Board next. Ms. Pelletier stated this 154 
was a simple boundary line adjustment. The plan as presented is taking 10.34 acres from the 155 
Heatherman parcel and adding it to the Tattersall parcel. Ms. Pelletier referred to a plan and 156 
stated that the Heatherman Trust owns everything shown in green. She indicated the Heatherman 157 
Trust’s parcel has frontage on Chesterfield Road, and 76 feet of the lot bounds Stearns Road. 158 
 159 

Mr. Mehu asked when the tax map lot 15 changed from 16 and 15 to just 15. Ms. Pelletier stated 160 
she believes it was during this past winter.  161 
 162 
The Mayor asked for the purpose of this boundary line adjustment. Ms. Pelletier stated the lot 163 
belongs to the Heatherman Estate; the estate is being finalized, and the original plan was for a 164 
subdivision for each of the siblings until Tattersall requested to purchase the lot. The Mayor 165 
asked whether it would remain a buildable lot. Ms. Pelletier stated there is currently a house on 166 
lot 26  that would remain with a driveway and frontage on Grimes Road and Stearns Road.  This 167 
concluded Ms. Pelletier’s comments. 168 
 169 
Staff comments were next.  170 
 171 
Planner Evan Clements addressed the Board and stated the subject parcels for this application are 172 
located in southeast Keene, north of Arch Street and west of Stonewall Farm. 173 

5 of 34



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
May 2025, 2025 

Page 5 of 11 
 

Grimes Road connects to Arch Street approximately 2,500 feet to the northeast of the Route 9 174 
intersection and provides street access for only the two subject parcels. The property at 37 175 
Grimes Road is an existing parcel of approximately 30-acres. On the east side is the single-176 
family residence with a detached garage and in-ground pool. 177 
 178 

Mr. Clements went on to say that the property at 38 Grimes Road is an existing 29-acre parcel on 179 
the west side of the road with a single-family residence and detached garage. The applicant 180 
proposes transferring approximately 10 acres of land from the northern portion of 37 Grimes 181 
Road, shown as parcel A on the subdivision plat. The land transfer, combined with a recent lot 182 
merger, will bring 38 Grimes Road to just about 40 acres in size and reduce 37 Grimes Road to 183 
approximately 20 acres in size. He noted there is no development proposed as part of this 184 
application beyond the transfer of land between these two existing parcels; no new buildable lots 185 
are being created as part of this application. 186 
 187 
Mr. Clements stated that after reviewing the application, Staff have made a preliminary 188 
evaluation that the proposed boundary line adjustment does not appear to have the potential for 189 
regional impact as defined in RSA 36-55; however, the Board will need to make a final 190 
determination on that matter. 191 
 192 
Character of the land for subdivision – Mr. Clements stated both parcels are characterized by 193 
areas of open field and forest. There are some slopes, potentially some wetlands, but those 194 
factors were not evaluated as part of this application. Both lots contain single family residences 195 
with associated site improvements. That standard has been met. 196 
 197 
Scattered or Premature Development – This application does not propose the creation of any new 198 
lots or development. This standard is not applicable.  199 
 200 
Preservation of Existing Features – There are no changes proposed to any of this land. This 201 
standard is not applicable. 202 
 203 
Monumentation – The applicant proposes installing rebar pins at all corners along the proposed 204 
boundary line. Planning Staff recommend that the Board include a condition of approval related 205 
to the inspection of lot monuments or the submittal of security to cover the cost of lot 206 
monumentation inspection prior to final approval of this application. That standards been met. 207 
 208 
Special Flood Hazard Area – This land is not in any special flood hazard area This standard is 209 
not applicable. 210 
 211 
Fire and Water Supply – This application does not propose any new development to evaluate for 212 
this item as well as utilities. There is no change to the real-life conditions of this land. 213 
 214 

Mr. Clements reviewed the proposed motion. This concluded Staff comments. 215 

 216 

There was no public comment. 217 

 218 

Councilor Remy stated he could not find any issues with what is being requested. 219 

 220 

 221 

6 of 34



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
May 2025, 2025 

Page 6 of 11 
 

 222 

 223 

 224 

C. Board Discussion and Action 225 
 226 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board approve PB-2025-10 as shown 227 
on the plan identified as “Boundary Line Adjustment” prepared by Cardinal Surveying & Land 228 
Planning at a scale of 1 inch = 80 feet on April 18, 2025 and last revised May 6, 2025, with the 229 
following conditions precedent prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning 230 
Board Chair:  231 
 232 

1. Owners’ signatures appear on the proposed BLA plan.  233 
2. Submittal of four (4) full-sized paper copies and two (2) mylar copies of the plans.  234 
3. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51 made out to the City of Keene to cover 235 

recording fees.  236 
4. Inspection of the lot monuments by the Public Works Director, or their designee, 237 

following their installation, or the submittal of a security in a form and amount acceptable to the 238 
Public Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be set. 239 
 240 
The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn. 241 
 242 
Councilor Remy asked for clarification as to why the lot monuments inspection is being included 243 
as a condition precedent, as it is ordinarily included as a condition subsequent. Mr. Clements 244 
stated the mylar plans cannot be recorded until the monuments are in the ground or a security 245 
would need to be obtained. 246 
 247 
The motion carried on a unanimous vote.  248 
 249 
VI) Master Plan Update (KeeneMasterPlan.com)  250 
 251 
Ms. Brunner addressed the item and stated the Future Summit is scheduled for Tuesday, June 3 252 
at Heberton Hall from 5 pm to 7 pm. She indicated the Cheshire Children’s Museum has agreed 253 
to provide free childcare for children who are potty trained. The kids will be working on a 254 
Cardboard City activity. 255 
 256 
Ms. Brunner stated the first part of the event would be a few short presentations. The majority of 257 
the meeting will be an open house with stations around the room. There will be three major 258 
stations that mimic the master plan.  259 
 260 
First, Station 1 will explain the planning process for the master plan and the public engagement 261 
that was done as part of the planning process. 262 
 263 
Next, Station 2 will review the six strategic pillars, and it will include the goals for each of those 264 
pillars. People will have an opportunity to vote on goals the Master Plan Steering Committee is 265 
working on prioritizing.  266 
 267 
Finally, Station 3 will go through the future land use map and implementation. 268 
 269 

7 of 34



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
May 2025, 2025 

Page 7 of 11 
 

In addition to the three stations, there will be a couple copies of the draft plan available for 270 
review. There will also be a free raffle drawing at the event. 271 
 272 
Ms. Brunner encouraged the Board to attend. 273 
 274 
The Mayor asked whether the goal is that the top five ideas would be identified for each pillar 275 
and attendees will then identify the top priority under each pillar. Ms. Brunner started the 276 
prioritization survey identified the subgroup of action steps for each goal area. There are items 277 
within each pillar; specifically, there are four to six goals for each pillar. Then, each goal has a 278 
set of actions. The Committee was able to narrow it down to four to six top action steps per 279 
pillar. The plan at the Future Summit is to give attendees another opportunity to help figure out 280 
what the top goal area is for each pillar. 281 
 282 
Mr. Kost noted the Master Plan is nearly complete and asked whether an opportunity to influence 283 
the plan at the Future Summit would be a priority. Ms. Brunner stated the focus for the Summit 284 
is to reveal the draft Master Plan. The other piece is to get some last-minute feedback. She added 285 
the Committee is not expecting to have to change anything drastically at this point. The June 3rd 286 
event is to present the draft to the public, but then the Steering Committee will have to work their 287 
way through it. The Steering Committee will be meeting on June 10th to start that process. 288 
 289 
Mayor Kahn stated he has a problem with the “Flourishing Environment” pillar name. He noted 290 
the plan says nothing unique about Keene and our environment. Our natural environment is one 291 
of the most attractive and most important features in attracting people to our city. The Mayor felt 292 
that failing to say that as one of the pillars would diminish the importance of that pillar. He asked 293 
that this be conveyed to the Committee.  294 
 295 

VI) More Time Items 296 
a) Potential Modifications to the Site Plan Review Thresholds  297 
 298 
Ms. Brunner stated this item was addressed at the last Planning Board meeting and Board 299 
members were asked to e-mail Staff directly with any thoughts about the site plan review 300 
thresholds. She stated Staff has heard from two Board members and Staff does not have enough 301 
information to bring the comments forward to the entire Board. She reminded the Board to look 302 
at the slides and questions Ms. Fortson sent out. She added if there is a proposal to change the 303 
site plan review thresholds it has to go before the Planning Board and City Council to get 304 
adopted. 305 
 306 
b) Training on Site Development Standards – Snow Storage & Landscaping 307 
 308 

Snow Storage: Ms. Brunner stated this standard is really about making sure that when someone 309 
comes forward for site plan review, they have thought through where snow is going to be stored 310 
on their site. For instance, the standard makes sure snow cannot be stored in parking spaces that 311 
are required under zoning or that an applicant doesn’t push snow onto a neighboring property. 312 
This standard also makes sure snow is not being pushed into surface waters or routed in any sort 313 
of way that would cause erosion. 314 
 315 
Ms. Brunner referred to a site plan from Mint Car Wash as an example. The site plan indicates 316 
where snow can be stored and where snow cannot be stored. Snow cannot be stored in the area 317 

8 of 34



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
May 2025, 2025 

Page 8 of 11 
 

indicated as such on the site plan because it is the compensatory storage area they have created to 318 
meet the flood plain development regulations. 319 
 320 
 321 
Landscaping: Ms. Brunner stated the landscaping standards for parking lots are located in the 322 
Zoning Regulations in Article 9 of the Land Development Code. The Planning Board’s role with 323 
site plan review is either to verify that the applicant meets those standards in zoning, or the 324 
Board has the ability to approve an alternate landscaping plan, as long as the Board feels that it 325 
meets that same intent and standard as the zoning regulations require. 326 
 327 
Ms. Brunner referred to an image from the Land Development Code - Article 9, which shows the 328 
different requirements for the perimeter landscaping requirement. The intent of this is to screen 329 
parking lots from adjacent public rights of way and residential properties. It requires that the 330 
perimeter landscaping is at least eight feet in depth, and this is so trees can survive and thrive. 331 
 332 
You also have to have one shade tree every 30 feet. However, those can be evenly spaced or 333 
grouped. 334 
 335 
You can substitute two ornamental trees for one shade tree. You also need to have one evergreen 336 
shrub every three feet, which is at least three feet tall at maturity, with the spread of at least two 337 
feet. The remainder is ground cover, plantings, mulch or other permeable landscape surface. You 338 
can substitute a solid fence or wall. 339 
 340 
Ms. Brunner next referred to interior landscape areas. For parking lots of 10 or more spaces, you 341 
have to have one tree for every 10 parking spaces. In this instance, you can substitute three 342 
ornamentals for one tree. For lots of 50 spaces or more, 10% of the area of the parking lot has to 343 
be landscaped and then more than half of that needs to be in continuous strips or large islands 344 
that are eight feet wide. She noted this section also talks about providing protection from 345 
vehicles, which means curbs, wheel stops, etc.  346 
 347 
If someone were to strictly follow these regulations, the plan can be approved as they meet 348 
zoning standards. However, oftentimes, people will come in with an alternative landscaping plan, 349 
which would require review by the Board, and the Board needs to determine whether or not this 350 
meets the intent of the landscaping standards and zoning. 351 
 352 
In addition to the requirements in Article 9, the Board has its own standards in Article 21. For 353 
example, applicants cannot use invasive plant species for landscaping. They need to be in 354 
compliance with the regional climate conditions. The Board would encourage an alternative to 355 
turf grass lawn whenever possible. The Board’s regulations require Best Management Practices. 356 
The regulations states that an applicant needs to ensure sufficient soil volume, composition and 357 
nutrient balance for the health of the plant. Ms. Brunner noted Staff does not often check this 358 
requirement. However, Staff does ensure that plants being installed in an area that was 359 
previously paved, or had hard packed gravel, have at least 300 cubic feet of permeable native soil 360 
and that the opening they dig is at least three feet by six feet. Staff have seen that when they do 361 
not verify these requirements, plants do not survive after being installed.  362 
 363 

9 of 34



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
May 2025, 2025 

Page 9 of 11 
 

Ms. Brunner went on to say protective devices are required during construction. If there are 364 
existing trees that are proposed to remain on the site, the City requires fencing to be placed 365 
around them so that during construction those trees are protected.  366 
 367 
In terms of location, the landscaping can’t impede the visibility or safety of pedestrians, 368 
bicyclists and motorists. Staff also try to review to make sure utilities both underground and 369 
overhead are avoided. There is a requirement for landscaping to be maintained. 370 
Any plants that die or become severely damaged are supposed to be replaced within one year. 371 
 372 
Modification to an Approved Landscaping Plan: Regulations are very specific about what Staff 373 
can and cannot approve. Regulations say that Staff can approve a minor revision if there is no 374 
reduction in the quantity or size, no change in the proposed location, and the proposed plants are 375 
of the same general category. For example, shade, ornamental or evergreen. 376 
 377 
Ms. Brunner stated the biggest issue with this list is the no change in the proposed location. She 378 
continued by stating about half of the time, if an applicant comes in to request a modification in 379 
their landscaping plan, it is because they ran into something and realized they have to move a 380 
tree to a different location. The other half of the time, applicants may request to substitute one 381 
type of planting for a different one, because whatever they put on the landscaping plan isn’t 382 
available at the nursery. The way Staff usually address these requests is if an applicant is 383 
proposing to locate a plant in the general area, but potentially not the exact same location, Staff 384 
would often approve that request. If the plant is to be moved to an entirely different location, 385 
those plans will be forwarded to the Board for its approval. 386 
 387 
Submittal Requirements: Staff require the submittal of a landscaping plan that shows the 388 
location, species, size of the planting, landscape materials at planting and at maturity. She 389 
referred to a landscape plan submitted by Douglas Cuddle Toys, which, for example, shows the 390 
plant symbols. They show the drip line at planting, dimensions, quantity, size at planting, and 391 
size at maturity. Ms. Brunner also noted that the submittal requirements include a table showing 392 
the number of plantings required under our zoning regulations as well as installation details to 393 
ensure plant health. 394 
 395 
Ms. Brunner noted the Board requires the submittal of a security for landscaping to ensure that 396 
all landscaping installed on a site survives one full growing season after installation, which is a 397 
minimum of one year. When the applicant installs landscaping, it is inspected by Staff to make 398 
sure all of the plants that are shown on the plan are actually planted on the site. Staff then come 399 
back a year later and make sure that they all survived, which enables an applicant to get their 400 
security returned for the landscaping. Ms. Brunner reviewed some examples of sites that required 401 
replacement of trees. The Mayor asked how long in the future an applicant is held accountable 402 
for landscaping. Ms. Brunner stated the security is only for a year, but at any time in the future, if 403 
a plant dies, the applicant is supposed to replace it within a year. Ms. Brunner stated Staff do not 404 
go out and proactively make sure landscaping associated with these site plans are still healthy 405 
and thriving. However, every once in a while, there will be a complaint and Staff at that point 406 
will work with the owner.  407 
 408 
Ms. Fortson added that there is a provision in the Board’s regulations for landscaping that says 409 
landscaping should be considered a site element, similar to parking spaces. Even though Staff 410 
does not perform regular inspections, there is a standard to hold them accountable. 411 

10 of 34



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
May 2025, 2025 

Page 10 of 11 
 

It is considered a part of their site plan that should remain in place and an applicant can be held 412 
to that standard.  413 
 414 
Mr. Kost referred to the slide Ms. Brunner had previously referred to and asked for clarification 415 
if an applicant comes to the Board and does not want to keep to that specific design, but is then 416 
required to go before the Board, what would the intent be. Is the intent to fully screen the parking 417 
area so it acts as a visual barrier or is the intent to deal with stormwater, etc. 418 
Ms. Brunner stated the intent is in Article 9 and referred to that language: 419 
The Planning Board may approve an alternative design for interior landscaping or perimeter 420 
landscaping of parking lots as a part of a site plan review if they determine the proposed design 421 
generally meets the intent of this article. 422 
 423 
The Chair Pro Tem stated his thought is it would more or less break up the elements that could 424 
be seen.  425 
 426 
Ms. Brunner referred to the purpose statement for this article: 427 
#4 ensure appropriate site location and design features that mitigates the impact of parking on 428 
other land uses and surrounding neighborhoods, promote parking designs that minimize runoff 429 
and incorporate infiltration of stormwater into the ground. 430 
Ms. Brunner stated she had not heard anything about breaking up the massing but stated she had 431 
had heard from past Board members that was one of the original reasons for requiring interior 432 
parking lot landscaping. Specifically, the reasoning would be to break up that large expanse of 433 
pavements and reduce the urban heat island effect. Mr. Kost started his understanding then is that 434 
the reasoning would not be to provide screening for the cars, but rather to break up the expanse 435 
of the parking area. Ms. Brunner agreed it doesn’t specifically say that it has to be fully screened. 436 
The purpose statement talks more about mitigating impact on surrounding properties than 437 
screening. 438 
 439 
Councilor Remy pointed out that there are sections, such as in 9.44, which state: on site. 440 
parking shall not be visible from the public right away unless the following standards are met:  441 
and felt it is meant to screen the area.  442 
 443 
Mr. Hoefer clarified in a situation in which the City is constructing a parking lot and can’t meet 444 
an eight-foot buffer, would the city in that situation have to come before the Board for an 445 
exemption. Ms. Brunner stated there is a practice where anytime the City does something, an 446 
application would ordinarily have to go through a waiver process, and the City would have to 447 
abide by those same rules. 448 
 449 
Mr. Clancy asked Staff to talk about enforcement for snow removal and landscaping and what 450 
the department would do in that instance and what the public can do to help. 451 
Ms. Brunner stated there are a couple of ways. For example, if somebody sees something that 452 
they just want Staff to check, the public can contact the department. This can be done by calling 453 
the department, emailing the department, or there is also a way to submit a complaint on the city 454 
website. She indicated their department includes planning, code enforcement, building, zoning 455 
and health. 456 
 457 
Pro Tem Rangel stated whenever the Board reviews applications, snow storage and removal is 458 
well laid out, except for instances in which there is a concern as to if there is enough room on a 459 

11 of 34



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
May 2025, 2025 

Page 11 of 11 
 

property to store snow. However, the Chair Pro Tem felt the issue that was raised regarding 460 
whether the storing of snow in a specific location could cause erosion was a good item to keep in 461 
mind as the Board reviews applications. He asked whether there were any additional specific 462 
items the Board should keep in mind when reviewing applications. Ms. Brunner stated 463 
challenging topography was something to keep in mind, specifically in the downtown area where 464 
the entire site is paved. In that instance, an applicant would need to make sure there is enough 465 
space. Otherwise, a note is often included on the plan indicating the applicant would haul snow 466 
off site and snow would be stored in a location that would end up in a brook, etc. 467 
 468 

VII) Staff Updates 469 
None 470 

 471 

 472 

 473 

VIII) New Business 474 

None 475 

 476 

IX) Upcoming Dates of Interest  477 

• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – June 9th, 6:30 PM  478 

• Planning Board Steering Committee – June 10th, 12:00 PM – The full agenda packet can be 479 

found on the Planning Board webpage at: keenenh.gov/planning-board.  480 

• Planning Board Site Visit – June 18th, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed  481 

• Planning Board Meeting – June 23rd, 6:30 PM 482 

 483 

 484 

There being no further business, Chair Pro Tem adjourned the meeting at 7:54 PM. 485 

 486 

Respectfully submitted by, 487 

Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 488 

 489 

Reviewed and edited by, 490 

Emily Duseau, Planning Technician 491 

 492 

 493 

12 of 34



 

 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov  

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Planning Board    
 
FROM:   Community Development Staff 
 
DATE:   June 13, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item A.3 - Final Vote on Conditional Approvals  

 

Recommendation:  

To grant final approval for any projects that have met all their “conditions precedent to final 
approval.” 

Background: 

This is a standing agenda item in response to the “George Stergiou v. City of Dover” opinion issued 
by the NH Supreme Court on July 21, 2022. As a matter of practice, the Planning Board issues a 
final vote on all conditionally approved projects after the “conditions precedent to final approval” 
have been met. This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 

As of the date of this packet, there are no applications ready for final approval.  

If any projects meet their conditions precedent between date of this packet and the meeting, they 
will be identified and discussed during this agenda item.   

All Planning Board actions, including final approvals, are posted on the City of Keene website the 
day after the meeting at KeeneNH.gov/planning-board.  

 

  

13 of 34

https://keenenh.gov/planning-board


C I T Y  O F  K E E N E
P U B L I C  W O R K S  D E P A R T M E N T

350 Marlboro Street
Keene, NH 03431

(603) 352-6550
KeeneNH.gov

June 11, 2025

Harold Farrington, Chair
Keene Planning Board
3 Washington Street
Keene, NH  03431

RE: Island Street Road Reconstruction Project – Parcel No. 577/047

Dear Mr. Farrington,

On behalf of the City of Keene Department of Public Works, we are writing to provide formal
notification to the Planning Board, pursuant to New Hampshire RSA 674:54, relative to the
Island Street Road Reconstruction Project and associated staging areas that have been
acquired by the City’s general contractor, the City’s agent, SUR Construction West, Inc.
(SUR) , for the project.

Specifically, SUR and the Keene Public Works Department will be utilizing the referenced parcel
for temporary construction material storage for the scheduled Island Street Infrastructure project.
An area approximately 100-foot by 100-foot on this vacant land in the middle of the parcel will be
occupied for the storage of construction material. On May 20, 2024, the City of Keene Public
Works Department presented to the Planning Board regarding the use of 0 Island St. (583 / 018)
for use as a temporary construction material storage yard for this same project. Due to time
constraints the project did not begin last summer (2024). In meeting with SUR the first week of
June 2025, it was determined that due to some wetland areas as well as a significant amount of
overhead electrical wires additional space for laydown will be required. SUR is proposing to use
the lot at 0 Island St. for laydown of pipe and structures and using 0 West St. for storage of
material such as gravel and sand. Material piles will be protected from erosion and the site will be
protected from introducing any material to any adjacent properties. Any material introduced to
West St. during transport will be swept daily or as directed by the City of Keene Public Works
Department. The area could also be used to park construction equipment during off hours to
eliminate the need for parking equipment in the public right of way (ROW)

SUR Construction West, Inc. coordinated and negotiated for the temporary occupancy of the site
with the current parcel owner, Public Services of New Hampshire (d.b.a. Eversource Energy).  At
the end of the construction project, the site will be restored to existing conditions.  A photo of the
site is enclosed for your reference.  The project has been awarded to SUR Construction with a
corresponding Notice to Proceed (NTP) date of June 23rd. We anticipate that construction will be
substantially complete in November 2025, with project closeout In accordance with New
Hampshire RSA 674:54, we are providing with this notification a plan showing the portion of the

14 of 34



parcel to be occupied and requesting to provide a presentation and answer any questions that
the public or Planning Board have at your regularly scheduled meeting on June 23rd, 2025.

If you have any questions or concerns prior to this meeting or would like to discuss, please feel
free to contact me at 603-352-6550 or by email at bruoff@keenenh.gov.

Sincerely,

Bryan Ruoff, P.E.
City Engineer

CC: Paul Andres, Community Development Director
TJ O’Brien, Infrastructure Project Manager
Amanda Palmiera, City Attorney

15 of 34



16 of 34

Thomas O'Brien
Rectangle



17 of 34

Thomas O'Brien
Rectangle



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
May 30, 2025 
 
 
City of Keene – Planning Board 
Community Development Department 
3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 
Attn:  Megan Fortson, Planner 
 Evan Clements, Planner 

Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
 
 
RE:   G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  

Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH  
 
 
Dear Board Members, 
 
As requested, Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC (Fieldstone) has performed a review of the 
documents submitted for the above referenced project. The following documents were submitted 
for our review: 

• Response and Transmittal Letter prepared by Granite Engineering LLC, dated May 8, 
2025 

• Waiver Requests for Article 25.3.3 and Article 25.3.6, no date 
• Surface Water Resource Setback Plan, dated May 9, 2025 
• Stormwater Management Report, dated May 8, 2025 
• Acid Mine Drainage Detection Initial Response Action Plan, dated April 6, 2025 
• Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) for the current pit operations, dated 

January 31, 2023 
• Revised Plan Set, last revised May 9, 2025 

 
Fieldstone has completed a review of the materials provided against the City Land Development 
Code.  More specifically the submission materials have been reviewed under Article 25 – Earth 
Excavation Regulations and Article 26 Section 26.19.4 which handles the Earth Excavation Permit.   
 

18 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 2 

The following comments are from our February 14, 2025 review.  Granite Engineering’s responses 
to our comments are represented in bold text and our current comments are in italicized text, as 
needed.   
 
Section 25 Earth Excavation Permit: 

1. Section 25.2B:  This project will require state and federal permits and these permits have 
not been obtained yet.  Fieldstone would recommend that these permits be considered as 
conditions of approval when and if the project reaches that point. 

 
No response required. 
 
It is our understanding that the state and federal permits for this project are still pending and as 
such Fieldstone still recommends that these be considered as conditions of approval should the 
Board move in that direction. 
 

2. Section 25.2C:  The reports prepared and submitted indicate that this project has the 
potential to cause adverse impacts associated with the excavation project operations.  This 
section outlines hazards as noise, traffic, dust or fumes, visual impacts, degradation of 
roadways, erosion and soil instability, sedimentation, adverse impacts to surface and 
ground waters, loss or fragmentation of important habitat, air quality degradation, 
pollution of soils or diminution of the value of abutter properties.  Based on the materials 
provided it appears that this project will result in adverse impacts to surface and 
groundwaters.  This is clearly outlined in the Acid Mine Drainage Potential Report and we 
believe the stormwater management report does not currently adequately address the 
surface water conditions either.    

 
Although the site’s bedrock may exhibit potential acid-generating properties, this characteristic 
alone does not inherently make it so. Professionally engineered plans, a Hydrogeologic 
Investigation Report, Acid Mine Drainage Potential Report, and an Acid Mine Drainage Detection 
Initial Response Action Plan prepared by a professional geologist are included in this submission. 
As demonstrated in the submitted material, excavation activities will not adversely impact 
surface or ground water quality through the unearthing of toxic or acid�forming elements or 
compounds resident in the bedrock or soils.  
 
Given that bedrock was encountered and has the potential to contain minerals that could lead to 
AMD, a waiver is required to proceed with bedrock excavation. This waiver is necessary to 
excavate the material on-site adequately. While AMD is uncommon in active New England 
quarries, our proactive approach includes initial testing, early detection protocols, and action 
plans, which are crucial for managing any potential adverse effects. These supporting documents 
have been included with this submittal.  
 

19 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 3 

All stormwater from bedrock excavation activities will be collected, contained, and infiltrated 
back into the ground. We anticipate zero runoff associated with the bedrock excavated areas 
discharging the site, effectively protecting surface waters from potential AMD. The revised 
Stormwater Management Report includes an analysis of the two proposed infiltration basins and 
the ability to infiltrate the stormwater up to and including the 50-year 24-hour storm event. In 
addition to reintroducing surface water to the ground, the proposed lining of the two infiltration 
ponds with 12 inches of crushed limestone gravel as a precautionary measure will help 
neutralize any potential for acid mine drainage. 
 
The applicant has provided a waiver to address this comment as it relates to the projects 
potential to cause adverse impacts associated with the excavation project.  The applicant 
believes that their proactive approach and proposal will satisfy the regulations which prohibit 
operations in areas that have the potential to cause Acid Mine Drainage.  Should the Board feel 
comfortable approving this waiver we would recommend that the proposed Acid Mine Drainage 
Detection Initial Response Action Plan be reviewed by a third-party hydrogeologist.  Fieldstone 
does not specialize in this area so we would recommend that the protocols and 
recommendations within this report be reviewed to ensure that they are in fact appropriate and 
reasonable action plans.   
 
Part of this comment does also include surface water impacts as it relates to the Stormwater 
Management Report.  Fieldstone has reviewed this revised report and we do not believe that the 
revised report accurately portrays the project under the post-conditions.  Currently many of the 
subcatchment areas do not include impervious areas or include small amounts of impervious 
areas.  This project will be a bedrock mining operation and as such there will be exposed vertical 
ledge faces and the restoration will consist of bedrock covered with loam and seeded in many 
areas.  In HydroCAD, a shallow ledge area should be modeled using a subcatchment with a high 
runoff curve number (CN) and a suitable time of concentration (Tc). The CN should reflect the 
shallow ledge’s limited permeability, potentially using a CN value between 80 and 90.  This in our 
opinion would more accurately represent the post-construction conditions and associated 
stormwater runoff. 
 

3. Section 25.3D:  Surface Water Resources. The excavation perimeter shall be set back at 
least 250-ft, and the access driveway shall be set back at least 150-ft, from any surface 
water resource.  The proposed excavation is located within 250-ft in a number of locations 
and the applicant is seeking a waiver from this section.  

 
No response required. 
 
It is our understanding that the Board still needs to consider this waiver request.  
 

4. Section 25.3.3:  The ground water table elevations need to be revisited in the reports.  

20 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 4 

There appears to be conflicting data from the test pits and soil borings regarding the 
location of the estimated seasonal highwater table.  Depending on the results of this work 
other portions of Section 24.3.4 may or may not be applicable.  For example, the excavation 
depths in Period 8 appear to show depths of excavation below the water table.  Test pits 
and record boring logs show seasonal high-water tables that are encountered and proper 
separation for infiltration does not appear to be provided.  Based on our review of the data 
it appears this project will need an exception from 25.3.3A as excavation appears to be 
proposed below 6 feet from the seasonal high-water table. 

 
A groundwater monitoring well (SLR-12), installed by SLR International Corporation, observed a 
groundwater fracture within 18 inches of the existing ground surface. It is the project’s intent to 
refrain from excavating this area. While there is no evidence that the fracture in which SLR-12 is 
located extends into the proposed excavation area, we are respectfully requesting this waiver to 
ensure continued compliance with Article 25.3.3.  
 
The groundwater monitoring well which encountered high groundwater, is an anomaly. This 
particular well, drilled by a different company for another firm, unexpectedly encountered a high 
level of groundwater. The applicant noted during drilling that surface water was present nearby 
and appeared to be flowing into the well. It's important to note that a nearby well and test pit, 
located close to SLR-12, did not encounter any groundwater. Furthermore, all overburden and 
bedrock wells within the planned excavation area have also shown no groundwater.  
 
While we believe the high groundwater reading in the anomalous well is likely inaccurate due to 
the observed surface water influence, we have taken care to avoid disturbing the adjacent 
grade. However, completely avoiding the adjacent area would unfortunately prevent the 
construction of a critical sedimentation pond. These sedimentation ponds are essential for 
effective site runoff control. They function by capturing and holding water, allowing sediment to 
settle out. This process is vital in preventing sediment from entering downstream water bodies 
and safeguarding water quality during the construction phase. If groundwater is actually 
encountered in the adjacent area, blasting operations will cease as MSHA, the protective 
protocols governing blasting, does not allow the blasting within groundwater.  The floor of the 
basin is at elevation 842.00 and relatively half way between the wells. Based on this information, 
the water table was interpolated and estimated at 828.95. 
 
The applicant’s engineer has acknowledged that there is a conflict in the data provided but 
believes that the information submitted for Phase 1 by TFMoran likely does not accurately 
represent the conditions due to observed surface water in proximity to the well and therefore 
may be an anomaly.  They have further stated that excavation within the groundwater is not 
permitted by MSHA and as such operation would cease at that time if groundwater was in fact 
encountered.  They have also stated that the proposed stormwater features in this area are 
critical to the design of the site.  We would recommend that further testing be performed in this 

21 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 5 

area to support the current design or third-party inspection of this area be performed during 
construction to verify that groundwater is not present.  If groundwater is encountered this could 
significantly modify the proposal for the project and any associated changes would require local 
review and approvals.  
 

5. Section 25.3.4.A.1:  We have reviewed the soil logs and their proximity on the property.  
The number of observations appear to be appropriate at this stage but additional data may 
be required to support the current design.  Additional investigation may also be required  
depending on the consultant’s responses surrounding concerns for potential impacts.   

 
See response to #4. 
 
With the submission of the Acid Mine Drainage Detection Initial Response Action Plan Fieldstone 
would recommend that this be reviewed by a third-party Hydrogeologist to ensure that the 
protocols and monitoring are appropriate.  At the Board’s discretion, this could be reviewed as a 
condition of approval or prior to a vote on the waiver requests.   
 

6. Section 25.3.4.A.2:  The surface data table on Sheet 11 of 22 does not accurately represent 
elevations (existing and proposed) and separation to seasonal.  The Hydrogeologic 
Investigation performed by SLR shows that boring log SLR-10 observed water at 840.1+/-, 
SLR-11 observed water at 817.8+/- and SLR-12 observed water at 888.5+/-.  The finish 
grades in these areas appear to show interference.  The plans do not show all of the record 
borings.  For example, SLR-12 appears to be missing and the excavation at this location is 
approximately 855+/- which appears to be 30+ feet below the observed seasonal water 
table.  

 
 
 

The proposed grade at SLR-10 is 860.00 in period 1, and 855.00 in period 8. This grading is 

22 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 6 

approximately 15 feet above the observed water table found (840.1+/-). The proposed grade at 
SLR-11 is 880.00 in period 1, and 855.00 in period 8. This grading is approximately 37 feet above 
the observed water table found (817.8 +/-). SLR-12 is shown on sheets 5 and 10, and the existing 
grade at SLR-12 is 888+/-. The existing grade is to be maintained in this location. No excavation is 
occurring in this location. 

 
The water table drops 22+/- feet between SLR10 and SLR11 and it is a relatively short distance 
between these two locations.  We would recommend an additional test site between the two 
locations to ensure adequate separation to seasonal high water.  This stormwater management 
area is critical to the design and operation of this site.  This additional testing could be done 
between phases as a condition of approval should the Board feel comfortable with this 
recommendation. 

 
7. Section 25.3.4B2:  The data for the wells depicted on the plans (3 wells) should be provided 

and documented for baseline information.  It would seem appropriate that the monitoring 
plan include one or more of these wells as well. 

 
A revised monitoring plan has been developed and includes monitoring SLR 10, 11, and 12 that 
were previously installed. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

8. Section 25.3.4B3A:  The soil logs and borings in Period 8 do not seem to meet the 
requirements outlined in this section.   

 
The section requires that wells be dug 50’ below the proposed pit – if excavation is within the 
water table. SLR 10 and SLR 11 were both dug below the proposed pit bottom, and did not 
encounter the water table within our excavation limits. The proposed design does not propose 
excavating below the water table. SLR-12 is shown on sheets 11 and 16. It is currently located in 
the area between period 1 and period 8 in an area where grading is not anticipated. SRL-12 does 
show a water level greater than the adjacent proposed pit floor depth. All bedrock groundwater 
flow at the site is controlled by fracture flow and we have no evidence suggesting that the 
fracture in which SRL-12 is located extends into the excavation area. SLR-12 showed 
groundwater to be within 18” of the surface, however, both SLR-4 and test pit 6, both of which 
are within very close proximity to SLR-12, did not find groundwater. Overburden wells MW-1 
through MW-8 did not encounter groundwater. Bedrock wells BRW-1 through BRW-6 did not 
encounter groundwater. Furthermore, due to the blasting means and methods, the excavation is 
limited to "dry-hole" areas only. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

23 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 7 

9. Section 25.3.4C:  The proposed monitoring plan for this project does not match the 
frequency outlined in this section.  The City shall determine if they are comfortable with the 
proposed frequency and if relief is required from this section of the regulations. 

 
A revised monitoring plan has been provided that includes monitoring tables of both AMD and 
water level monitoring. It also includes both on-site and off-site water quality monitoring notes. 
See sheet 17. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

10. Section 25.3.6:  This section states “ When the proposed operation includes the excavation 
of bedrock materials, the applicant shall demonstrate that excavation activities will not 
adversely impact surface or ground water quality through the unearthing of toxic or acid 
forming elements or compounds resident in the bedrock or soils. Such demonstration shall 
be made by obtaining the opinion of a NH licensed engineer or professional geologist. 
Excavation of bedrock shall not be permitted where bedrock contains toxic or acid forming 
elements or compounds.”  Per the Acid Mine Drainage Potential Report prepared by 
Frontier Geoservices this project has the potential to produce acid mine drainage.  The 
report outlines that borings 1 through 8 have the elements or compounds that could 
produce acid mine drainage.     

 
See Response to #2 
 
The applicant has provided a waiver to address this comment as it relates to the projects 
potential to cause adverse impacts associated with the excavation project.  The applicant 
believes that their proactive approach and proposal will satisfy the regulations which prohibit 
operations in areas that have the potential to cause Acid Mine Drainage.  Should the Board feel 
comfortable approving this waiver we would recommend that the proposed Acid Mine Drainage 
Detection Initial Response Action Plan be reviewed by a third-party hydrogeologist.  Fieldstone 
does not specialize in this area so we would recommend that the protocols and 
recommendations within this report be reviewed to ensure that they are in fact appropriate and 
reasonable action plans.   
 

11. Section 25.3.7:  This Section addresses Stormwater Management and states “Excavation 
activities within the excavation perimeter and the access driveway shall not cause adverse 
impacts from stormwater runoff and/or groundwater drainage, including erosion, sediment 
transport, water quality degradation, and/or increases in volume or velocity of water 
leaving the site”. 

a. The stormwater management report and design for this project is currently 
incomplete as it does not evaluate the pre and post conditions.  The submitted 
report does not include preconstruction conditions or properly model the phasing of 

24 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 8 

the project and the phased conditions throughout the project. 
 
A revised Stormwater Management Report has been updated to show the pre and post 
development flows from the project area to the wetlands and drainage culverts adjacent and 
under Route 9. There is a net decrease in peak flow during all storm events, up to and including 
the 100-yr storm event, per the request of the Conservation Commission. The two-year pre vs. 
post volumes for channel protection have also been met. 
 
Fieldstone has reviewed this revised report and appreciates the additional information.  As 
mentioned previously in this letter we do not believe that the revised report accurately portrays 
the project under the post-conditions due to the nature of the project.  Currently many of the 
subcatchment areas do not include impervious areas or include small amounts of impervious 
areas.  This project will be a bedrock mining operation and as such there will be exposed vertical 
ledge faces and the restoration will consist of bedrock covered with loam and seeded in many 
areas.  In HydroCAD, a shallow ledge area should be modeled using a subcatchment with a high 
runoff curve number (CN) and a suitable time of concentration (Tc). The CN should reflect the 
shallow ledge’s limited permeability, potentially using a CN value between 80 and 90.  This in our 
opinion would more accurately represent the post-construction conditions and associated 
stormwater runoff. 
 

b. This should include monitoring the same observation points and modeling the 
closest downstream structures that route the runoff from the site. 

 
See response above. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

c. The original approvals for this site included the submission of a stormwater 
management report prepared by TFMoran that properly evaluated the pre and post 
conditions and storm events.  Since this is an expansion of this project we would 
anticipate a similar submission for the expansion of this project.  The submission 
should also account for the phasing of the project showing that the project meets 
the standards throughout the phasing periods. 

 
Two pre vs post drainage models have been analyzed, which include an interim phase showing 
the project meets pre vs post flows during the phasing periods. During this interim phase, the 
temporary sedimentation pond SF1 is to be expanded. This pond will detain and infiltrate all the 
stormwater associated with the subsequent phases of work. Upon completion of period 7, and 
during period 8, as the pit floor in period 8 is lowered, proposed infiltration pond SF8 will be 
constructed. This will capture and infiltrate all of the stormwater associated with the project. 
 

25 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 9 

This comment has been addressed. 
 

d. Other details to consider in the stormwater management report: 
i. The model should account for ledge and the associated impervious conditions 

and shallow ledge.  The post conditions do not account for the amount of 
exposed ledge or shallow ledge resulting from the project.  All of the 
subcatchments show 0% impervious cover and low CN’s for the actual 
anticipated conditions.  We believe the CN’s used are not representative of 
post-construction conditions. 

 
Ledge and associated impervious conditions, including gravel haul roads, have been reflected in 
the updated drainage analysis. 
 
See comment from number 11 above. 
 
 

ii. Outlet structures seem to have orifice plates bolted to headwalls but do not 
seem to provide for emergency outlets for larger storms or in the event of 
clogging. 

 
Outlet structures for the use of emergency overflow devices have been added to SF5, SF6, and 
SF7. Hydrocad has been updated with these structures as well as the details (pond detail 
updated, OCS structure details have been provided. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

iii. The report should compare peak rates and volumes at the two observation 
points. 

 
See response to 11a. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

iv. Confirm adequate depths to ESHWT are being provided. 
 
Both the temporary sediment basin SF7 and the final proposed infiltration basin SF8 have the 
required separation to ESHWT. See response to 4. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

v. Verify inlet conditions and culvert cover for cross-culverts. 

26 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 10 

 
Inlet conditions have been verified, and minimum cover has been provided for all culverts. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 

vi. Ditch (reach) modeling and capacity analysis should account for stone check 
dams. 

 
Temporary stone check dams have been removed as ditches are proposed to be stone armored. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

vii. The report and plans need to include an inspection and maintenance manual 
outlining all stormwater practices with recommended inspection and 
maintenance. 

 
An Operation and Maintenance Manual has been included in the stormwater report. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

e. It is unclear what the intentions are for handling stormwater and the transition 
between Phases or Periods.  

 
See response to 11c. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

12. Section 25.3.8:  A review of site photographs and the plans provided shows that the project 
is currently not constructed per the prior approved plans.  The drainage at the entrance is 
not completed and as such dust control and the transportation of dirt/mud off the site onto 
the adjacent roadway is occurring.   

 
Plans have been revised to show improvements at the entrance. This work will include widening 
the paved apron, stone outlet protection, and grading a depression at the existing driveway 
culvert. Phasing notes have been added to sheets 5 and 10 to specify what items need to be 
completed associated with the access road and during which period. Additional notation has 
been included on sheets 5 and 10 that specify what items are to be constructed and when, based 
on the previously approved project. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

13. Section 25.3.10:  Note #21 of the Operations Notes makes reference to known important 

27 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 11 

Archeological sites.  Please clarify if there are any such sites on-site. 
 
Per a review by the NH Division of Historical Resources, there are no known resources to be 
impacted. This note has been eliminated. 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

14. Section 25.3.12:  Per this section a fence or barricade shall be installed and the plans have a 
detail addressing this.  Please clarify the intent regarding the timing of the installation of 
this fence for each phase or period of construction. 

 
Operation notes have been revised to include the following: Earthen Berms Erected Around The 
Excavation Area Shall Be Placed Along The Outside Edge Of The Active Work Area But Not Within 
The Buffer Area, So As To Minimize The Visibility Of The Fence From Abutting Properties And 
Public Rights�Of-Ways. These Shall Be Erected At The Start Of Each Permit Period, And Shall 
Remain Until Pit Excavation Area Has Been Reclaimed. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

15. Section 25.3.13:  Per this section the excavation areas shall not exceed 5-acres.  The 
applicant is seeking a waiver from this section. 

 
No response required. 
 
It is our understanding that the Board still needs to consider this waiver request.  
 

16. Section 25.3.17:  The access driveway and associated drainage and construction details 
does not appear to be completed as designed and approved for the initial approval of this 
project.  This is evident if you compare the existing conditions plans with the details 
depicted on Sheet 10 of 22.  There needs to be some clarification on what the intent is with 
the front end of this project and how it can be brought into compliance with the approved 
plans. 

 
See response to 12. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

17. Section 25.3.25:  The plans should be revised to incorporate notes addressing record 
keeping per this section.  

 
General note 27 on sheet 1 now reads: All logs required to be maintained by the 
applicant/operator shall be retained by the applicant for a period of not less than 5-years and 

28 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 12 

shall be made available to the community development department, or its designated agent, 
upon request. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 

18. Section 25.3.26:  The applicant shall provide the Community Development Department 
copies of all local, state and/or federal permits required for this project. 

 
No response required. 
 
It is our understanding that the state and federal permits for this project are still pending and as 
such Fieldstone still recommends that these be considered as conditions of approval should the 
Board move in that direction. 
 

19. Section 25.4.1D:  To meet this requirement the Stormwater Management Report should 
appropriately model the pre and post condition design storms and evaluate observation 
points to ensure that the project will not have negative impacts to downstream areas.  
reclamation plan should be revised to incorporate notes from this section to ensure 
compliance with the City Code.  This includes notes pertaining to incremental reclamation, 
topsoil, vegetation, monitoring and remediation as applicable.  

 
The stormwater management report has appropriately modeled pre vs post conditions. The 
reclamation notes have been revised to include the pertinent notes from this section. 
 
Please see comment from number 11 above. 
 

20. Section 25.4.6:  We would recommend that the reclamation plans be revised to incorporate 
the remediation note outlined in this section.  

 
The reclamation notes have been revised to include the following: Excavation operations that 
cause adverse impacts shall abate and/or remediate those impacts, restoring all affected areas 
to pre-impact conditions. Reclamation shall not be said to be complete until all adversely 
impacted areas have been successfully remediated. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 
Plan Review – General Review Comments: 

1. Sheet 1 of 22 – Operations notes #3 should mention the 250-foot wetland setback to 
excavation setback as applicable too. 

 
General note #21 has included this information. 
 

29 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 13 

This comment has been addressed. 
 

2. Sheet 1 of 22 – Operations notes #10 is not correct.  The subject site is not self-contained 
and this note should be revised accordingly.  There are areas of the site that are not self-
contained including but not limited to existing access roads, etc..  This note misrepresents 
current and proposed conditions. 

 
Operations Note 10 has been revised. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

3. Sheet 1 of 22 – Operations notes #17 appears to conflict with the updated existing 
conditions plan as fuel is currently stored on-site.  We would recommend the preparation 
and submission of a Source Control Plan due to the presence of hazardous materials on-site 
and the nature and size of the proposed project. 

 
Note 17 has been removed. Refer to fueling notes on sheets 5 and 10. Fueling operations are 
proposed to be in compliance with Env-WQ 1510.08. Spill prevention measures currently on-site 
are located in the job trailer and consists of 55 gallon drum MS spill prevention barrels. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

4. Existing Conditions Sheets should show setbacks and buffers.  The limit of disturbance line 
on the updated existing conditions plan seems to represent a wetland impact on the east 
portion of the site.  Please clarify and correct plan as applicable. 

 
The excavation, drainage, and erosion control plan show both the current limits and proposed 
limits of disturbance, as well as all surface water / wetland setbacks. The area in which the 
existing conditions plan shows disturbance within a wetland is an existing disturbed area that 
has been restored and confirmed by Ecosystems Land Planning and by the City of Keene. See 
response to item #13. 
 
As long as City Staff is satisfied with this response Fieldstone believes this comment has been 
addressed. 
 

5. Sheet 5 of 22 – The temporary sedimentation basin needs additional detail.  There appears 
to be no erosion and sedimentation controls, berm detail, emergency outlet controls and 
contour labels.  Are other access improvements going to be included with this initial work?   

 
The grading plans and details have been revised to include more information for the ponds. 
 

30 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 14 

This comment has been addressed. 
 

6. Sheet 6 of 22 – the 30” culvert in Period 1 has two outlets labeled and I would check the 
cover over this pipe as the grading appears to be too shallow.  

 
The culvert has one outlet HW#10B labeled. The culvert as proposed has been checked and 
meets or exceeds manufactures minimum requirements of 12” of cover. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

7. Sheet 10 of 22 – What is the plan for transitioning form the temporary basin and into this 
final design?  Reviewing the soils data seems to indicate that the basin design is too low and 
the excavation in areas will intercept SHWT.  It looks like the existing trailer and facilities are 
in the way and should be moved. 

 
As the pit floor is lowered, the temporary sedimentation basin will be expanded upon as 
excavation continues. By the time the pit floor has been excavated to elevation 860.00, the 
infiltration basin shown in period 8 will have been constructed to the proposed pit floor of 
842.00. SLR-11 had noted water table at elevation 817.8. SLR 10 had noted water table at 840.1. 
The floor of the basin is at elevation 842.00 and relatively half way between the wells. Based on 
this information, the water table was interpolated and estimated at 828.95. The existing trailer 
and facilities are proposed to be relocated from their current location as shown on sheet 10, 
during the start of period 8. 
 
The water table dropping 22+/- feet in this short distance is of concern.  We would recommend 
an additional test site between the two locations to ensure adequate separation to seasonal high 
water.  This stormwater management area is critical to the design and operation of this site.  
This additional testing could be done between phases as a condition of approval should the 
Board feel comfortable with this recommendation. 
 

8. Sheet 12 and 14 of 22 – Additional Basin details are needed.  Contour labels, berm detail, 
emergency outlet and associated details.  

 
The plans and details sheets have been revised to include additional information for the ponds. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

9. Has an EPA Notice of Intent (NOI) been filed for the current site operations?  Please provide 
appropriate materials so we can verify compliance with the initial approved site plan. 

 
An NOI for the 2022 NPDES Construction General Permit was filed and has been included. 

31 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 15 

 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

10. A reclamation bond will need to be established for the project prior to work commencing. 
No response required. 
 
We would recommend that this be handled as a condition of approval should the Board move in  
this direction. 
 

11. The exiting conditions plan seems to indicate that the site is not currently in compliance 
with the previously approved plans.  The plan appears to be missing drainage culverts, a 
stormwater management basin (infiltration basin), an outlet structure, an emergency 
spillway, slope benching, a reinforced drainage swale, drainage at the entrance, access 
roadway grading, stop sign at entrance, etcetera.  See photo of entrance which depicts 
current conditions and a deviation from the approved plan. 
 

 
 

Plans have been revised to show culvert and stone ditching to be added at the entrance. Phasing 
notes have been added to sheet 5 and sheet 10 to specify what items need to be completed 
associated with the access road and during which period. Additional notation has been included 
on sheets 5 and 10 that specify what items are to be constructed and when based on the 
previous approved project. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 

 
12. Existing conditions plans should show setback and wetland buffer areas to ensure there are 

32 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 16 

no impacts to those areas. 
 
An updated Surface Water Resources Setback Plan has been included and addresses this 
comment and that shows the following:  
• Limits of disturbance  
• Previously approved encroachments on surface water setbacks  
• Proposed encroachments on surface water setbacks  
• Previously restored areas of impacts on surface water setbacks 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 

13. We have highlighted two areas on the aerial photography below.  Further information 
should be provided for these areas as they appear to be new impact areas.  The arrow on 
the image also represents an area that appears to be seeing more drainage as there is 
significant erosion and soil loss which is visible from NH Route 9.  We recommend that this 
area be investigated further. 

 
 

The area circled to the west, located adjacent to the existing pit, was an area of restoration 
associated with the previously permitted gravel pit. Per A joint inspection conducted on 

33 of 34



 
 
G2 Holdings LLC - Excavation Permit Package Review  
Tax Map 215 Lots 7 & 8 – 57 Route 9 – Keene, NH     Page 17 

September 28, 2023 between the applicant, City Staff, and certified wetland scientist, it was 
determined that area had been successfully replanted. The second area circled is an existing 
cleared area that is evident on google imagery as far back as 2008, most likely a logging lay down 
area. The erosion along the perennial stream as noted on lot 8, the old Seafield Pines Facility, 
has been a known issue prior to the applicant owning the property. 
 
This response implies that these areas have been addressed or that the issues are not the 
responsibility of the owner.  Staff should determine if they are satisfied with this response.  The 
last topic appears to be an existing erosion problem that is ongoing and should in our opinion be 
better understood and addressed. The erosion and failure could result in downstream and 
environmental impacts if not addressed.  We believe further understanding, evaluation and 
recommendations should be provided as it relates to this 

 
14. The phasing plans need to meet the detail and note requirements outlined in this section.  

It is difficult to decipher what improvements are required for each phase and how phases 
transition.   

 
Phasing notes have been revised, as well as call out notes on the plans to address construction 
sequencing. 
 
This comment has been addressed. 
 
This concludes our review of the technical components for the above referenced project.  Please 
feel free to contact us should you have any questions, concerns or require additional information. 
 
Sincerely, 
FIELDSTONE LAND CONSULTANTS, PLLC 
 
 
 
 
Chad E. Branon, P.E. 
Civil Engineer/Principal  

34 of 34


	2025_06_23_pb_agenda
	City of Keene Planning Board
	AGENDA
	Monday, June 23, 2025 6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers
	A. AGENDA ITEMS
	1) Call to Order – Roll Call
	2) Minutes of Previous Meeting – May 27, 2025

	2025_05_27_PB_Minutes_Edited
	June_Final Approval Recommendations Memo
	MEMORANDUM

	Notice of Lay Down Area_Island St. Infrastructure_Rec. 06-11-25
	Gravel Pit_Consultant Review Letter #2_Rec. 06-05-2025



